IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STAVROS ANTHONY, an individual,) Supreme Court No. 82269) District Case No. Electronically Filed Jan 07 2021 05:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown
Appellant, v.	Clerk of Supreme Court
))
CLARK COUNTY BOARD OF)
COMMISSIONERS, a local government)
entity; ROSS MILLER, an individual,))
)
Respondents.	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC

Mark A. Hutchison (4639)
Jacob A. Reynolds (10199)
Piers R. Tueller (14633)
10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
mhutchison@hutchlegal.com
mwall@hutchlegal.com
jreynolds@hutchlegal.com
ptueller@hutchlegal.com

Attorneys for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order of the district court denying a motion for a preliminary injunction. It is also an appeal from an order of the district court dismissing appellant/intervenor Stavros Anthony's amended complaint in intervention, which is the final judgment in district court.

Because the amended complaint in intervention sought permanent injunctive relief, and that claim was denied, the denial of a preliminary injunction is merged into the final judgment denying injunctive relief. *See S.E.C. v. Presto Telecommunications*, Inc., 153 F. App'x 428, 429–30 (9th Cir. 2005) (dismissing appeal from preliminary injunction, stating: "Because the district court issued a permanent injunction in its final judgment, the preliminary injunction has merged into the final decree.), *see also In re Estate of Ferdinand Marcos Human Rights Litigation*, 94 F.3d 539, 544 (9th Cir.1996) (same).

Nevertheless, this Court may consider in this appeal from the final judgment whether the district court erred in denying preliminary injunctive relief, and the impact of that denial on the events that transpired thereafter. *See Consolidated Generator v. Cummins Engine*, 114 Nev. 1304, 971 P.2d 1251 (1998) (stating that issues regarding interlocutory orders entered prior to final judgment may be heard on appeal from final judgment); *Keresey v. Rudiak*, 422 P.3d 1270 (Nev. 2018; unpublished) (dismissing appeal from preliminary injunction after permanent

injunction entered, but noting: "Appellant may raise any argument in opposition to the preliminary injunction in his appeal from the final judgment imposing the permanent injunction.").

The issue of whether preliminary relief should have been granted is not rendered moot by the final denial of permanent relief. That denial prejudiced Anthony by allowing events to proceed, dramatically altering the *status quo*, and giving rise to Miller's incorrect arguments that the issues are now moot because Miller has been sworn into the office he did not win. The impact on this Court's jurisdiction and the reach of its authority to render relief is directly related to the district court's denial of preliminary injunctive relief; events following that erroneous denial may be undone by order of this Court on review in this appeal. The motion for an injunction sought to require the Commission to conduct the new election it had already approved; nothing limits this Court's authority to order that new election now.

The district court's order denying a preliminary injunction was entered on December 4, 2020. AA 170. Notice of entry of the order was served

¹It is truly a novel theory to argue that this Court cannot consider appeals of an action in district court and lacks authority to undo legal errors of a district court when a party moved to prevent those errors through both an injunction and a claim for a writ of mandamus. Miller will cite no legal authority for this unsupportable position.

electronically on December 29, 2020. AA 373. The order is independently appealable pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3) (order refusing to grant injunction). Anthony filed his notice of appeal on December 29, 2020. AA 378. The notice of appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

The district court entered an order denying Anthony's motion for a writ of mandamus on December 31, 2020. AA 381. Notice of entry of the order was served electronically on December 31, 2020. AA 384. The order is appealable pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) (final judgment). Anthony filed his amended notice of appeal on January 1, 2021. AA 389. The notice of appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

Although the order denying Anthony's motion for a writ of mandamus left nothing more to be considered by the district court, and thus probably constitutes a final judgment, in an abundance of caution, the parties jointly caused the district court to enter an order that resolves all claims against all parties. That order was entered on January 6, 2021. AA 392. An amended notice of appeal was filed the same day. AA 401.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(2) (cases involving ballot or election questions).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order denying a motion for a preliminary injunction, and from a final judgment. Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Department XI, the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Judge.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the District Court Erred in Concluding That the Election was Not Prevented For Purposes of NRS 293.465.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On Tuesday, November 3, 2020, voting in the general election was concluded and counting began. When the votes were tabulated in the race for Clark County Commission District C ("District C"), it was found that candidate Ross Miller had just 10 votes more than his opponent Stavros Anthony. AA 3.

On Monday, November 16, 2020, the Board of Clark County

Commissioners held a special meeting to consider the canvass of the November

2020 general election. AA 4; 196. At that meeting, the Registrar stated that all of
the elections in Clark County should be certified except the election in District C.

The Registrar identified that there were 139 irreconcilable discrepancies in the

District C race that resulted from the conduct of the election. AA 201. The
Registrar has been clear that he does not know the cause of the irreconcilable
discrepancies—hence their denomination as irreconcilable. Nevertheless, the

Registrar knows from experience what causes these types of discrepancies. AA 201-03.

The 139 irreconcilable discrepancies prevented the Registrar from certifying the election because they can represent missing ballots (*i.e.*, ballots intended to be cast but not counted because of a staff error) or extra ballots (*i.e.*, caused when a voter erroneously believes the machine has not counted his vote, and is allowed to vote again, but the staffer fails to check and clear the voting machine appropriately). *Id.* The Registrar testified about his concern to the Commission:

MR. GLORIA: I've identified 139 discrepancies in the Commission C race that follow pretty closely to what I described in the canvas document. Basically, there are records that were transferred back and forth from different responsibilities within the mail process that canceled check-ins and things of that nature that we can't reconcile and so they very much or very well could represent a discrepancy that would affect the outcome of the election.

AA 201 (Exhibit 1, Tr. Special Meeting, Nov. 16, 2020 at 6:47-53).² When asked

²The Registrar reviewed the transcript of the hearing and confirmed at his deposition that he had an opportunity to review the transcript and found no errors in it. AA 259-60 (Exhibit 8, Gloria Depo. 9:7-12; 10:16-24). This transcript was created using the .mp4 file of the Special Meeting of County Commissioners on November 16, 2020, available at https://www.clarkcountynv.gov/government/board_of_county_commissioners/commission_meeting_agendas.php. The transcript has been authenticated by an attorney at Hutchison & Steffen, PLLC. AA 212 (Exhibit 2). The transcript was created for the convenience of the Court and parties to reference the testimony at the November 16, 2020, special meeting. Anthony recognizes that the official record is the publicly available video of the meeting.

about the possibility of a recount instead of a new election, the Registrar responded:

MR. GLORIA: The vote count will not change. So what we've tallied represent[s] the results in all of the contests within the election. However, we have found discrepancies that we can't explain that would cast a doubt on whether or not that margin of victory is solid and that I could certify it to say that is definitely accurate.

AA 202 at 7:22-26.

The Registrar thus plainly and forthrightly determined that the 139 irreconcilable discrepancies prevented him from certifying the election results as accurate.³

In a subsequent affidavit submitted to the Commission, which was intended to "formaliz[e] the statements [he] made to the Commissioners on November 16, 2020," the Registrar was even more clear that the irreconcilable discrepancies prevented him from certifying the election: "There were 139 discrepancies which the election boards were unable to reconcile. As a result, I cannot certify that the vote is an accurate representation of the will of the voters in that district" AA 214 (Exhibit 3, Gloria Aff. ¶ 3).

On November 16, 2020, given the troubling and irreconcilable nature of the

³"MR. GLORIA: That is correct, Commissioner Brown. We have, for as long as I can remember since I've been here, it is always been the practice to go through and identify what the discrepancies are and ensure that the margin of victory surpasses that so that you can certify." AA 206.

numerous discrepancies, and the narrow projected margin of victory, the Commission voted 6-1 to certify all elections in Clark County except the election in Clark County Commission District C, where a new election would be held. AA 209-10.⁴ The Registrar was asked to present options for running the new election at the Commission's December 1, 2020, Commission meeting. *Id*.

On Tuesday, November 17, 2020, Miller instituted this action, claiming that the Commission erred in voting for a new election in District C. AA 1. Miller argued that the Commission was required to certify the election in District C, and that the Commission should be forced to vote to certify the election. *Id.* In the district court proceedings, Miller argued the Commission's obligation to certify the election was a "ministerial, non-discretionary statutory obligation[] of NRS 293.387," AA 323, despite the known existence of a superseding amount of irreconcilable discrepancies.

On Friday, November 20, 2020, the district court held a status hearing. AA 11. At the hearing, the district court granted Anthony's motion to intervene, AA 21, and parties stipulated to an injunction to preserve the status quo pending the Court's resolution of Miller's claims, and prevent the Commission from

⁴Action Summary, available at https://clark.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?view_id=17&clip_id=6901&doc_i d=7d3dfc44-285a-11eb-a4b6-0050569183fa

proceeding to a vote at the December 1, 2020 meeting on how the special election would proceed. AA 19-20; 23.

On Monday, November 23, 2020, the first business day after the district court hearing, the Registrar submitted his affidavit to the Commission to formalize his statements to the Commission on November 16, 2020. AA 214; 318 (Exhibit 3, Gloria Aff. ¶ 1.). This affidavit was immediately followed by Anthony submitting an application for a new election pursuant to NRS 293.465. AA 217 (Exhibit 4, Anthony's application for a new election).

Also on Monday, November 23, 2020, the Agenda for the December 1, 2020, Commission meeting was released to the public. The first agenda item was for the Commission to reconsider the Commission's vote not to certify the election of District C and to proceed to a new election. AA 222-23 (Exhibit 6, Agenda of the Clark County Commission, December 1, 2020). Moreover, item #33 on the same agenda under "Business Items" marked for possible action was the canvassing of the District C election and directing the Registrar to submit documents of the election to the Secretary of State. AA 227.

Because the new agenda threatened to disrupt the stipulated status quo,

Anthony filed for a motion for a preliminary injunction to prevent reconsideration
based on both the parties' stipulated injunction, and the mandatory nature of NRS
293.465 requiring a new election. AA 44.

On November 30, 2020, the district court denied Anthony's motion for a preliminary injunction. AA 170. On December 1, 2020, the Commission, relying on the district court's statements at the November 30, 2020 hearing, voted unanimously to reconsider the new election. AA 176 The Commission proceeded to vote unanimously for canvassing and certifying the election in District C. *Id*.

On December 1, 2020, Anthony filed his amended complaint in intervention, seeking a writ of mandamus to require the Commission to order a new election pursuant to NRS 293.465. AA 150-65. On December 7, 2020, Registrar Gloria was deposed by the parties. AA 257 (Exhibit 8).

On December 11, 2020, the Registrar completed a recount in District C. The Registrar found seven additional ballots during the recount that had not been previously tabulated (one for Anthony and six for Miller). The net result of the recount was Miller's margin of victory was expanded to 15 votes. AA 337. The Registrar also responded to requests for admission, specifically admitting that he did not find any resolution to the 139 discrepancies through the recount, and the discrepancies remained irreconcilable. AA 359-363 (RFA'S 3, 4, 6 & 10).

On December 29, 2020, Miller served notice of entry of the district court's order denying Anthony's motion for a preliminary injunction. AA 373. That same day, this appeal was taken. AA 378.

On December 31, 2020, the district court entered an order denying

Anthony's motion for a writ of mandamus. AA 381. On January 1, 2021, Anthony appealed from the district court's order denying the motion. AA 389. A final judgment was entered on January 6, 2021, AA 392, and an amended notice of appeal was filed the same day. AA 401.

This Court should reverse the lower court's decision, and direct the district court to issue a writ of mandamus requiring the Commission to order a new election for Clark County Commission District C pursuant to Nevada law, including NRS 293.465.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

NRS 293.465 requires a new election whenever "the appropriate election officer"—in this case the Registrar—presents an affidavit showing that an "election was prevented" for "any [] cause." The district court's conclusion that the election in District C was not prevented constitutes a far too myopic construction of NRS 293.465. The election in this case is not conclusive because of discrepancies that are irreconcilable. The margin of error is 15 votes. Just as in a case where ballots are lost, destroyed, or cannot be deciphered due to any myriad of causes, no one knows who won this race. This is precisely the situation—where a fair election result has been prevented by ballot issues beyond the control of election officials—NRS 293.465 was enacted to address. For "any other cause" must not be read restrictively to force a result not clearly the will of the voters. In this case, the will

of the voters is not known. Public policy demands a new election.

DISCUSSION

I. Standard of Appellate Review.

Pursuant to Article 6, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution, the district court has jurisdiction to issue writs, including writs of mandamus. A writ of mandamus is available to compel the performance of an act that the law requires as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station, or to control an abuse of discretion. See NRS 34.160; Round Hill Gen. Imp. Dist. v. Newman, 97 Nev. 601, 637 P.2d 534 (1981); see also, Beazer Homes, Nev., Inc. v. Dist. Ct., 120 Nev. 575, 97 P.3d 1132, 1135 (2004). An equitable writ of mandamus will not issue where the petitioner has a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of the law. See NRS 34.170.

Because whether to grant extraordinary relief is addressed to the discretion of the court to which a petition for a writ is submitted, *see State ex rel. Dep't of Transp. v. Thompson*, 99 Nev. 358, 359, 662 P.2d 1338, 1339 (1983), this Court reviews the decision of the district court granting or denying a petition for a writ of mandamus on an abuse of discretion standard. *See Kay v. Nunez*, 122 Nev. 1100, 1105, 146 P.3d 801, 805 (2006); *DR Partners v. Bd. of County Comm'rs*, 116 Nev. 616, 621, 6 P.3d 465, 468 (2000). A district court abuses its discretion when its decision is not supported by substantial evidence, *Otak Nev., LLC v.*

Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 129 Nev. 799, 805, 312 P.3d 491, 496 (2013), when no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances, *Leavitt v. Siems*, 130 Nev. 503, 509, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014), when it bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or disregards controlling law, *MB Am., Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing Co.*, 132 Nev.78, 88, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016), or when a decision is made in clear disregard of guiding legal principles, *Bergmann v. Boyce*, 109 Nev. 670, 674, 856 P.2d 560, 563 (1993).

The district court's construction of NRS 293.465 is clearly erroneous. The construction of a statute is a legal determination which this Court reviews *de novo*. *Orion Portfolio Servs. 2 LLC v. Cty. of Clark ex rel. Univ. Med. Ctr. of S. Nevada*, 126 Nev. 397, 402, 245 P.3d 527, 531 (2010), *see Marquis & Aurbach v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 122 Nev. 1147, 1156, 146 P.3d 1130, 1136 (2006) (citing *Borger v. Dist. Ct.*, 120 Nev. 1021, 102 P.3d 600 (2004) (applying a de novo standard to review a district court's interpretation of NRS 41A.071 in resolving an original petition for a writ of mandamus)); *Beazer Homes Nevada, Inc. v. Dist. Ct.*, 120 Nev. 575, 97 P.3d 1132 (2004) (same). After this Court construes the statute, it will be clear that the district court's denial of mandamus was an abuse of discretion, because it disregards guiding legal principles.

II. NRS 293.465 Mandates a New Election.

This Case turns on the interpretation of the phrase "election is prevented" in NRS 293.465.

NRS 293.465 Loss or destruction of ballots, or other cause, preventing election in precinct or district; new election.

If an election is prevented in any precinct or district by reason of the loss or destruction of the ballots intended for that precinct, or any other cause, the appropriate election officers in that precinct or district shall make an affidavit setting forth that fact and transmit it to the appropriate board of county commissioners. Upon receipt of the affidavit and upon the application of any candidate for any office to be voted for by the registered voters of that precinct or district, the board of county commissioners shall order a new election in that precinct or district.

The statute is clear; where the result of an election cannot be determined based on ballot issues, a new election is mandatory.

Miller and the district court propose an interpretation of NRS 293 *et seq*. that fails to read the chapter as a cohesive whole, and unnecessarily limits and erroneously narrows the catchall phrase "or any other cause" in NRS 293.465, even though the statutory scheme mandates that the statute be "liberally construed." NRS 293.127(1)(c).

The 139 irreconcilable discrepancies identified by the Registrar could represent either missing ballots or extra ballots. These discrepancies exceed the projected margin of victory, and prevented the Registrar from certifying the

election. On November 16, 2020, the Clark County Commission felt compelled by the nature of these discrepancies to order a new election in District C–the vote was 6-1, with Commissioner Justin Jones being the lone dissenter.⁵ This Court should interpret NRS 293.465 to mandate a new election as it did in *LaPorta v*. *Broadbent*, 91 Nev. 27, 530 P.2d 1404 (1975).

A. The Types of Errors at Issue.

The 139 discrepancies are not just any type of discrepancy. By the Registrar's own admission, they are irreconcilable errors resulting from the conduct of the election. AA 266 (Mot., Exhibit 8, Gloria Depo. 35:16-36:12). The specific causes of the errors are unknown. AA 214 (Mot. Exhibit 3, Gloria Aff. ¶ 3.) Meaning, they could represent extra ballots cast as duplicates, or they could represent ballots that were intended to be cast but were not accepted. The

⁵Action Summary, available at https://clark.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?view_id=17&clip_id=6901&doc_i d=7d3dfc44-285a-11eb-a4b6-0050569183fa

⁶"Q. And those errors just simply result from the conduct of the election, correct?

A. I would agree with that."

⁷AA 200 (Mot. Exhibit 1, Tr. Special Meeting 5:14-16) (specifically identifying duplicate activations in prepared report to the commissions); AA 266 (Mot. Exhibit 8, Gloria Depo. 35:16-36:12) (specifically discussing the possible scenario of ballots being cast twice instead of just once, or a voter who tried to vote but the vote was not counted).

Registrar has been clear he does not know which discrepancy lines up with which specific error. Therefore, he cannot reconcile them. But he does know from his decades of election experience that the missing ballot example, and the extra ballot examples described herein are real possibilities. For this reason, and the Registrar made this abundantly clear several times during his deposition testimony, these irreconcilable discrepancies should be counted against the margin of victory.

The Registrar also admitted during his deposition that these are errors that are known to occur in elections of this size, and they occur through the conduct of an election:

Q. And so these errors that we found are errors that you would expect in a - in any election, correct?

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