In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

STAVROS ANTHONY, an individual,

Appellant,

vs.

CLARK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, a local government entity; ROSS MILLER, an individual, Electronically Filed Jan 29 2021 02:05 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 82269

Eighth Judicial District Court Case No.: A-20-824971-W Hon. Elizabeth Gonzalez

Respondents.

RESPONDENT ROSS MILLER'S ANSWERING BRIEF

BRADLEY SCHRAGER, ESQ., SBN 10217 DANIEL BRAVO, ESQ., SBN 13078 WOLF, RIFKIN, SHAPIRO, SCHULMAN & RABKIN, LLP 3556 East Russell Road, 2nd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89120 Tel: (702) 341-5200

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Much of what Mr. Anthony includes in his statement of facts is more or less accurate, but not all of it.

A. The Routine Nature Of The Data "Discrepancies," Upon Which Mr. Anthony Relies So Heavily

Most importantly, it is crucial to understand and characterize correctly the data "discrepancies" upon which Mr. Anthony's entire case is premised, and which furnish the reasons he insists his election was prevented. These are not ballots, and they do not represent votes that went uncounted or were otherwise lost. The tabulation of the ballots cast votes was entirely accurate, something the Registrar has insisted all along. At his deposition, he testified thus:

[Mr. Schrager]. Now, you told the Commission that

there were no tabulation errors in the 1150 precincts in this election, correct?

[Registrar]. That was in my canvass report, yes, sir.

Q. And you stand by that here today?

A. I do. There was no issue with what we tabulated.

AA, at 274 (pp. 65:24-66:5).

And, under examination by Mr. Anthony's counsel this time:

[Mr. Reynolds]. So you -- you have a great deal of confidence that the machines operated appropriately; is that correct?

[Registrar]. Tabulated properly, yes.

Q. As registrar, though, do you agree that at least in 139 instances the votes were not correctly tabulated and counted?

A. No, not if you're trying to correlate that to the tabulation system. The tabulation system did exactly what we asked it to do.

AA, at 269 (p. 47:1-10).

All the Registrar knows—all anyone, even the parties, know—is that a number of the sign-in and registration databases that comprise a portion of the records of the election (not the tabulation of votes) show different figures than the total of ballots shown to be cast in particular precincts. Almost all of these are differences of one or at most two. *See*, e.g., AA, at 310-315, where what is called the VEMACS data—the poll book total—differs from the "D-Suite" data, which is the actual number of ballots cast and counted in a precinct. Sometime the VEMACS figure is one number higher that the D-Suite number, sometimes the other way around. These discrepancies can occur for a number of reasons, but are neither traceable nor identifiable; they are irreconcilable data points. They may represent voter error at the polls, they may represent paper-function issues with the touchscreen machines, there may have been clerical error in the poll book usage at the voting site; it is not knowable why the figures do not match. It is not even knowable how many of any kind of particular hypothetical discrepancy example occurred, if at all. There is no way to determine why the columns do not match, only that the discrepancies cannot be traced to any particular cause in any specific instance, and cannot be linked to any individual voter or his or her ballot:

[Mr. Reynolds]. And once again, there's no way to identify any particular ballot cast into the election that is associated with the discrepancy, correct?

[Registrar]. No. We have privacy of the ballot.

AA, at 267-268 (pp. 41:24-42:3).

There is likely no linkage to any particular voter or ballot at all:

[Mr. Reynolds]. Let me ask a slightly different question. In your opinion, is it likely that these 139 discrepancies represent voters that did not have their votes counted correctly?

[Registrar]. I can't say that either. I don't know what those discrepancies are.

AA, at 269 (p. 47:11-17).

Most important for Mr. Anthony's will-of-the-voter narrative, it is

absolutely beyond anyone's ken to state that these data discrepancies

had any effect whatsoever on the election's results:

[Mr. Reynolds]. And you don't know whether or not any of those discrepancies actually represents a difference from the will of the voter; is that correct?

[Registrar]. Correct.

Q. Okay. Now, given your experience in conducting elections, would you agree that it is likely that these errors come from the type of scenarios you've described where, for example, a person gets their ballot counted twice because the person conducting the election has made an error?

A. No, I can't answer that question.

Q. Why not?

A. What I've been trying to emphasize is that I don't know what those discrepancies are. There's no way for me to even guess or tell you where I think -- they're unknown

discrepancies, the majority of these.

AA, at 269 (p. 48:2-18).

In the registrar's estimation, the will-of-the-voter approach is not an appropriate lens through which to view the matter of the data discrepancies:

[Mr. Reynolds]. Now, in the other scenario, 51 ballots counted but 50 ballots -- 50 sign-ins. Okay, 51 ballots counted but 50 sign-ins. You don't know -- like in that scenario, how can you say that the ballots counted represent the will of the voter?

[Registrar]. I don't know how to answer that question to be honest with you, sir. Those voters went through and they had an opportunity to review their screen and then they printed out their voter verifiable paper audit trail, had another opportunity to review that screen. So why wouldn't I think that they had an opportunity to verify their ballot and vote?

AA, at 269 (p. 49:9-21).

All the examples given of what *could* have caused these discrepancies are merely theoretical and conjectural attempts to understand how elections actually function, and the potential categories of voter conduct that may have produced statistical anomalies:

[Mr. Schrager]. And so all the examples that opposing counsel led you through or had you bring to the floor, those are merely hypothetical examples of things that may have happened to cause these discrepancies, correct? [Registrar]. That's correct.

Q. Okay. We don't even know if there were any ballots associated with these discrepancies, there may not be any ballots. There may just be discrepancies that will never be reconciled or explained, correct?

A. That is also correct.

Q. Okay. And there's certainly no way to understand whether these discrepancies favored or disfavored any particular candidate, correct?

A. There's no way for me to know.

Q. So calling them errors is assuming a bit too much, right? The evidence is we don't know what happened, correct?

A. I can't disagree with that. I can't give you an explanation. I don't have anything documented.

AA, at 273 (pp. 64:5-65:1).

The bottom line is that elections are not perfect, they function imperfectly, and they generate data discrepancies. The 2020 General Election was no different, except for the fact, perhaps, that this election actually generated *fewer* such statistical discrepancies than in years past, even in a pandemic year that challenged every aspect of election administration, according to the Registrar:

[Mr. Schrager]. Now, there were -- I think you told the

Commission there were some 900 total discrepancies, correct?³

[Registrar]. It was in the area of 900, that's correct.

Q. And 139 of them actually within Commission District C. Are those within the normal range of discrepancies given the size of the vote pool?

A. I would say that those are historically lower.

AA 274 (p. 66:12-22).

Every election cycle, we see these data discrepancies, and we accept them as the inevitable logistical results of complex electoral processes colliding with human voters and pollworkers. They happen whether an election is razor-close or is a runaway victory for one candidate. The discrepancies at issue here, in other words, do not describe a *prevented election*, they just describe an election.

B. Other Factual Issues

There are other necessary factual corrections. For instance, Mr. Miller did not bring this action originally to claim that the Board of County Commissioners "erred in voting for a new election in District C." Opening Brief, at 7. Rather, it was the Commission's initial failure to comply with its ministerial, non-discretionary duty to canvass the final

³ The 900 number refers to county-wide statistics, not just District C.

results of the election that occasioned the lawsuit. AA, at 1-2, 7-8. This became moot on December 1, 2020—after the district court denied Mr. Anthony's motion for preliminary injunction, which sought not only to control the Commission's agenda but also to direct it to conduct the new election Mr. Anthony prays for here—when the Board made the correct decision to canvass and certify Mr. Miller as the winner of the election. AA, at 170-171.

The stipulation entered into by the parties at the November 20, 2020 status hearing conducted by the district court was entered into to delay any planning for or conducting of a new election while Mr. Miller's claims that the BCC had unlawfully failed to certify were pending. AA, at 166-168. At this point in the litigation, Mr. Anthony had made no affirmative claims of his own, and had only intervened as a defendant, presumably to protect his interests in a matter that, at that stage, he believed was proceeding in his favor. *See, e.g.*, AA, at 29-43.

Mr. Anthony's references to the Registrar's responses to requests for admission are incomplete, but incomplete in a manner suggesting strategic selectivity. While the Registrar did say that he could make no

resolution of the clerical discrepancies in the poll books, as Mr. Anthony notes (Opening Brief, at 9), that is not all the Registrar averred. Asked to "[a]dmit that, as You previously testified, it is Your opinion that the 139 discrepancies You previously identified should be counted against the margin of victory," a point Mr. Anthony is fond of repeating in his merits brief, the Registrar responded "Deny; that was not my testimony or statement." AA, at 360. Asked to "[a]dmit that as part of the Recount you identified 7 ballots in the Clark County Commission District C race that had not been previously tabulated," the Registrar responded "Deny: I did not identify any particular ballots as not previously tabulated." AA, at 361. Asked to "[a]dmit that on November 16, 2020, when you gave Your canvass report to the Clark County Board of Commissioners that the ballots in District C had not been correctly tabulated," the Registrar responded "Deny; I stated that the ballots had been correctly tabulated." Id. Given the emphasis Mr. Anthony places on the meaning and gravity of the "discrepancies" in the poll book numbers, these responses are important for the Court to have squarely before it.

And following from the discussion above regarding the data

discrepancies, one aspect of Mr. Anthony's brief that he treats as fact but is unable to support—and knows better than to assert—is any connection between the 139 "discrepancies" and any actual ballots cast or not cast. The entirety of Mr. Anthony's argument section "Discussion II.F" proceeds in the vein of statements like "the ballots associated with the 139 discrepancies cannot be found," or that "there is no way to find the ballots associated with the 139 discrepancies," or that "the ballots associated with these 139 discrepancies cannot be identified." Opening Brief, at 27, 28. This is deliberately misleading. There are no such ballots. There are no lost ballots, and there are no extra ballots. There are no ballots in a shoebox or in the trunk of some poll worker's car waiting to be located and examined. As the Registrar explained over and over again, the "discrepancies" noted by him in the District C election exist merely because the poll books for the precincts within the district show a difference between ballots and sign-ins—some precincts have undercounts on the sheets, some have over-counts, usually by one or two per precinct. AA, at 263 (p. 22:12-23), 273 (pp. 63:18-64:20). Making it seem as though 139 ballots have gone missing, or that they exist and would clarify the result of the election if only they could be found, is wrong to assert, both as a matter of fact and as an assertion undermining the integrity of the elections process; we have had quite enough of that lately.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appropriate standard of review of a denial of a petition for writ of mandamus, as Mr. Anthony states, is for abuse of discretion, but he fails to note just how difficult a standard that is to meet. This Court will review the district court's decision to determine whether it abused its discretion if, for example, "no reasonable judge could reach a similar or it made "clearly erroneous factual findings conclusion," or disregard[ed] controlling law." JPMorgan Chase Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 68, 475 P.3d 52, 58 (2020); NOLM, LLC v. Cnty. of Clark, 120 Nev. 736, 739, 100 P.3d 658, 660-61 (2004). This standard is not merely exhortative, but represents an arduous burden for Mr. Anthony to meet here. He has not shown that the district court's legal determination is without any reasonable basis, or that its factual findings were so clearly erroneous that no fellow judge could agree, or that clear controlling law exists which the district court ignored.

In its order, the district court issued two sets of findings and conclusions. In the first, it found that:

[T]he Clark County Commission, District C election was not prevented. Clark County had an election on November 3, 2020. The results of every race have been canvassed and certified. No precinct failed to complete its election.

AA, at 382. Therefore, "NRS 293.465 does not apply in this case," under

its substantive terms. Id.

In the second set, independently but with equally dispositive consequences, the district court found that:

[T]he Registrar's affidavit is not an NRS 293.465 affidavit, either by its own terms ... or by the expressed intentions of the Registrar. The affidavit does not declare that an election was prevented, either in whole or at the level of any particular precinct. It does not describe or identify any "loss or destruction of the ballots" per NRS 293.465.

AA, at 382-383. For those further reasons, therefore, "Intervenor cannot establish that NRS 293.465 mandates a new election." AA, at 383.

Even if this Court were to disagree in some respect with the district court's interpretation of NRS 293.465 as requiring "instances in which an election, or a portion of one, [to be] prevented from occurring, for instance due to a natural disaster, or an accident suffered by the vehicle transmitting the ballots, or some similar incident," those are very difficult findings to characterize as abuses of the district court's discretion. Undisturbed on appeal, they lead to the same ultimate result. AA, at 381-383.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. NRS 293.465 Cannot Mandate A New Election in Commission District C

1. The clear text and plain meaning of NRS 293.465

The text of NRS 293.465 is not particularly opaque, and it lends itself to a straightforward reading and interpretation.

In this Court's jurisprudence, "[w]hen the words of a statute are clear and unambiguous, they will be given their plain, ordinary meaning," and the Court "need not look beyond the language of the statute. *Newell v. State*, 131 Nev. 974, 977, 364 P.3d 602, 603-04 (2015) (quoting *State v. Friend*, 118 Nev. 115, 120, 40 P.3d 436, 439 (2002)). "However, when the 'literal, plain meaning interpretation' leads to an unreasonable or absurd result, this court may look to other sources for the statute's meaning." *Id*. Here, there are no absurd or unreasonable results threatened, and Mr. Anthony has not argued that the text of the statute is ambiguous; in fact, it is not. He is not suggesting that there are multiple, reasonable definitions of the term *prevented*, but rather that, under his reading of the words of the statute, *prevented* takes in situations where, in a single race, there exist some threshold number of irreconcilable data discrepancies.

NRS 293.465 reads:

If an election is prevented in any precinct or district by reason of the loss or destruction of the ballots intended for that precinct, or any other cause, the appropriate election officers in that precinct or district shall make an affidavit setting forth that fact and transmit it to the appropriate board of county commissioners. Upon receipt of the affidavit and upon the application of any candidate for any office to be voted for by the registered voters of that precinct or district, the board of county commissioners shall order a new election in that precinct or district.

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